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SYMBOLS AND REFERENCES 

In this Brief, the Respondent, H. EUGENE JOHNSON, will be 

referred to as "Respondent". The Florida Bar will be referred 

to as "The Florida Bar" or "The Bar". The Report of Referee 

will be referred to as "RR" . The Transcript of the Final 

Hearing held on April 15, 1994, will be referred to as "TR". 

The Respondent's Deposition taken on June 2 9 ,  1992 by Donald 

A. Mihokovich, Esquire, in the case Bartholomew v. Johnson,  

No. 92-797LT (Fla. 13th Cir. Ct. August, 1992) will be 

referred to as "Respondent's Deposition." "R" will refer to 

the record. "Standards" will refer to the Florida Standards 

Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. "Rule"  or "Rules" will refer to 

the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. 
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' 0  
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE 

Respondent was the attorney for the Bartholomew family 

f o r  many years. (TR, p.87, L.3-4, L. 7-20). Respondent began 

representing Joseph Bartholomew during 1979 or 1980 in 

corporate, real esta te  and personal matters. (TR, p.6, L.21 

to p.7, L.1, p.87, L. 2-5). Until May, 1983, Respondent was 

paid for his legal services on a retainer basis, as well as on 

a per case basis f o r  some matters. (TR, p.7, L. 5-11). A f t e r  

Mr. Bartholomew married Respondent's daughter in May, 1983, 

Respondent provided legal services to Mr. Bartholomew in 

personal, business, corporate and real estate matters free of 

charge. (TR, p . 4 1 ,  L. 16-22, and p.87, L. 2-8). 

During August or September, 1989, Mr. Bartholomew and his 

wife approached Respondent about moving his office into their 

building. (TR, p.71, L. 2 4  to p . 7 2 ,  L. 20 and p.89, L. 22 to 

p . 8 9 ,  L. 11). It was agreed at that time that Respondent 

would not be required to pay monetary rent to the Bartholomews 

for a term of three years. (TR, p.72, L. 21-24 and p . 8 9 ,  L. 

5-11). By a commercial lease dated September 15, 1989, Mr. 

Bartholomew agreed to lease space to Respondent in a building 

owned by Mr. Bartholomew and his wife (Respondent's daughter), 

Victoria Love Bartholomew, as an estate by the entirety. (TR, 

p.14, L. 21 to p.15, L.l). 

during September or October, 

by Respondent after he took 

request of Mr. Bartholomew. 

Respondent moved into the space 

1989, but the lease was executed 

possession of the space at the 

(TR, p.103, L.5 to p.104, La 9, 
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inclusive). 

The original form of the lease was prepared by 

Respondent, as Mr. Bartholomew's attorney, for use by Mr. 

Bartholomew in leasing spaces in the building. (TR, p.105, L. 

16-20). The form was copied by Mr. Bartholomew onto his 

computer and printed out for use in this circumstance. (TR, 

p . 3 1 ,  L. 10-15). The lease as executed listed and was signed 

by Mr. Bastholomew as "Landlord" and, while there were two 

witness lines next to each party's signature space, there was 

only one witness as to each signature. (R. Bar Exhibit 1 and 

TR, p.104, L. 10 to p.105, L. 15, inclusive). At that time he 

executed the lease, Respondent did not tell Mr. Bartholomew or 

Victoria Love Bartholomew, both of whom were present, that 

Mrs. Bartholomew's name and signature needed to be on the 

lease and that two witnesses were required for the lease to be 

valid. (TR., p.104, L. 16 to p.105, L. 15). Respondent 

intentionally and deliberately executed the lease in such a 

way that the document would be unenforceable and, he did not 

advise Mr. Bartholomew on the day that it was executed that 

the lease would be invalid. (TR, p.108, L. 3 to p.11, 

inclusive and R. Bar Exhibit 6, p . 1 3 ,  L. 4 to p . 1 4 ,  L.5, 

inclusive). 

On or about January 19, 1990, Respondent drafted and 

executed a Tenant's Affidavit at the request of Mr. 

Bartholomew f o r  the benefit of Village Bank of Florida. (R. 

Bar Ex. 2 and TR, p.91, L. 4-16). (TR, p.22, L. 2-23). Mr. 
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Bartholomew needed the lease and Affidavit to secure a line of 

credit for a refinance on the building and to show to 

potential purchasers. 

By the Affidavit, Respondent swore under oath that the 

lease dated September 15, 1989 constituted the entire 

agreement between the parties. (R. Bar Ex. 2 ) .  Respondent 

further swore under oath in the Affidavit that he had no 

defenses, counter-claims, or set-offs against the Landlord 

under the lease, and that he was obligated to pay monthly a 

rental payment of $751.33 under the terms of the lease and 

that he was current in his rent due the Landlord. (R. Bar Ex. 

2 )  * 

Mr. Bartholomew's marriage to Respondent's daughter ended 

sometime in July, 1991. Respondent did not make any rental 

payments from August 15, 1991 through May 15, 1992, and based 

thereon, Mr. Bartholomew instituted a civil action for 

eviction and rents due against Respondent on June 2, 1992. In 

Respondent's Amended Answer and Affirmative Defenses, 

Respondent claimed that the lease was not executed as a 

binding lease upon Respondent f o r  the purpose of Respondent 

paying monies to Mr. Bartholomew. (R. Bar Ex. 3 ,  p .  1). 

Respondent further admitted in his Amended Answer and 

Affirmative Defenses that he had drafted the Tenant's 

Affidavit and that he and Mr. Bartholomew had an oral 

agreement that Respondent would have possession of his office 

rent free until September 15, 1992. (R. Bar's Ex. 3 ,  p.2). 
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On or about June 12, 1992, Respondent filed an Affidavit 

in support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment with the 

County Court. (R. Bar Ex. 4 ) .  In the Affidavit, Respondent 

swore under oath that he executed the lease at Mr. 

Bartholomew's request, and that Mr. Bartholomew had explained 

that the lease was necessary for the benefit of third parties, 

particularly mortgage money lenders and potential purchasers. 

(R. Bar Ex.4, p . 3 ) .  Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment 

was granted on or about August 2 8 ,  1992 based on Victoria Love 

Bartholomew's failure to join in the action with her husband, 

Mr. Bartholomew. Because the property was owned by Mr. 

Bartholomew and his wife as an estate by the entirety, the 

County Court found that Mr. Bartholomew lacked legal standing 

to file the suit without his wife's participation. 

Respondent has repeatedly testified that he knowingly 

drafted and executed the lease agreement in such a way that it 

failed to comply with applicable rules of law. (TR, p.108 ,  L. 

10 to p.114, L. 14, inclusive; R, Bar Ex. 6, p.13, L. 4-18; R, 

Bar Ex. 3 ,  p.4). Respondent has further testified that at the 

time of execution of the Lease Agreement and Affidavit he was 

Mr. Bartholomew's attorney and that Mr. Bartholomew relied on 

him f o r  legal advice. (TR, p.108, L. 21 to p.109, L. 2 ,  

inclusive). 

In the Report of Referee, the Referee made specific 

findings of fact as to the deterioration of the marital 

relationship between Mr, Bartholomew and his wife. The 
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Referee further found that the relationship between Mr. 

Bartholomew and Respondent began to deteriorate after 

Respondent confronted Mr. Bartholomew about his alleged 

adulterous behavior. (RR, p . 3 ) .  

On November 4 ,  1993, The Florida Bar filed with the 

Supreme Court a formal Complaint against the Respondent in 

this case. On April 15, 1994, a Final Hearing was held in 

this case before the Honorable Claire K. Luten, Referee. The 

Referee recommended that the Respondent be found not guilty of 

violating Rule 3 - 4 . 3  (the standards of professional conduct to 

be observed by members of the bar are not limited to the 

observance of rules and avoidance of prohibited acts, and the 

enumeration herein of certain categories of misconduct as 

constituting grounds for discipline shall not be deemed to be 

all-inclusive nor shall the failure to specify any particular 

act of misconduct be construed as tolerance thereof. The 

commission by a lawyer of any act that is unlawful or contrary 

to honesty and justice, whether the act is committed in the 

course of the attorney's relations as an attorney or 

otherwise, whether committed within o r  outside the state of 

Florida, and whether or not the act is a felony Or 

misdemeanor, may constitute a cause for discipline); Rule 3- 

4 . 4  (whether the alleged misconduct constitutes a felony or 

misdemeanor The Florida Bar may initiate disciplinary action 

regardless of whether the respondent has been tried, 

acquitted, or convicted in a court f o r  the alleged criminal 
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offense) ; Rule 4 - 4 . 1  (in the course of representing a client 

a lawyer shall not knowingly: [a] make a false statement of 

material fact or law to a third person; or [b] fail to 

disclose a material fact to a third person when disclosure is 

necessary to avoid assisting a criminal or fraudulent act by 

a client, unless disclosure is prohibited by rule 4-1.6); Rule 

4-8.4(a) (a lawyer shall n o t  violate or attempt to violate the 

Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or induce 

another to do so, or do so through the acts of another); Rule 

4-8.4(b) ( a  lawyer shall not commit a criminal act that 

reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, 

or fitness as a lawyer in other respects); and Rule 4-8.4(~) 

(a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, 

fraud, deceit, o r  misrepresentation). 

On May 26, 1994, the Referee recommended in the 

Additional Report of Referee that Respondent was entitled to 

recover costs in the total amount of $68.40. 

The Report of Referee was considered by the Board of 

Governors at its meeting which ended June 3, 1994. The Board 

of Governors voted to seek review of the Report of Referee. 

The Bar filed a Petition f o r  Review with the Supreme Court of 

Florida on June 9, 1994. 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The Referee's findings of fact and conclusions of law are 

contrary to the evidence in the record and are clearly 

erroneous. 

The evidence in the record establishes clearly and 

convincingly that Respondent knowingly drafted and executed an 

invalid commercial lease between himself and his client. The 

evidence further establishes that Respondent failed to inform 

his client of the unenforceability of the lease at the time of 

its execution, and that he executed an Affidavit which 

contained several false statements and misrepresentations of 

material facts. Evidence in the record supports a conclusion 

that Respondent knowingly drafted and executed the invalid 

lease and false Affidavit with the intent to mislead or 

defraud a third party bank in the course of making a loan. 

The Florida Bar presented evidence that supports a finding of 

fact consistent w i t h  The Bar's allegations and that supports 

a finding Respondent guilty as charged. 

A suspension of no less than one (1) year is appropriate 

in light of the seriousness of Respondent's misconduct and 

applicable aggravating factors. 

The Florida Standards f o r  Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and 

the analogous case law provide for suspension as an 

appropriate sanction f o r  conduct involving fraud, false 

swearing, and misrepresentation of facts to a lending 

institution in order to obtain financing or a loan. 

7 



Respondent's drafting, executing, and causing his client 

to execute a lease which failed to conform to the applicable 

rules of law together with his lack of remorse for having made 

false statements, a false Affidavit and misrepresentations 

demonstrates an overall lack of respect f o r  the law and the 

legal system. 

Arguments as to the appropriate discipline were not made 

to the Referee as there was a finding of not guilty. However, 

The Florida Bar offers Respondent's prior disciplinary history 

in the event 

not guilty. 

' Several 

Respondent's 

1. 

2 .  

3 .  

4 .  

this Court sets aside the Referee's finding of 

aggravating factors are applicable to 

misconduct: 

prior disciplinary offenses; 

dishonest or selfish motive; 

refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of 
of conduct; and, 

substantial experience in the practice of law. 

Respondent has been disciplined on two prior occasions, 

the most recent of which resulted in a fifteen (15) day 

suspension. Respondent had a selfish motive of protecting 

himself from his Landlord's enforcement of the commercial 

lease against him. Respondent has never acknowledged that his 

conduct was wrongful or improper in any way. Respondent had 

been engaged in the practice of law for over 30 years at the 

time of his misconduct. 
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Based on the evidence presented in this case, it was 

error f o r  the Referee to find the Respondent not guilty of 

violating Rule 3 - 4 . 3 ,  Rule 3-4.4, Rule 4-4.l(a) and (b), and 

Rule 4-8.4(a), (b), and (c). The findings and recommendations 

of the Referee should be rejected and Respondent should be 

found guilty of all of the charges of The Florida Bar. 

Respondent should be suspended from the practice of law f o r  no 

less than one (1) year, and assessed the Bar's costs f o r  these 

disciplinary proceedings. 
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ARGUMENT 

ISSUE I. WHETHER THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS 
OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
ARE CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE 
AND CLEARLY ERRONEOUS. 

A Referee's findings of fact and recommendations are 

presumed to be correct and should be upheld unless clearly 

erroneous and without support in the record. The Florida Bar 

v. Vannier, 4 9 8  So. 2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986). The Referee's 

findings of fact and conclusions of law in the instant case is 

clearly erroneous and contrary to the evidence in the record. 

The Florida Bar alleged in the instant case that 

Respondent had knowingly drafted and executed an invalid 

commercial lease; that Respondent had counseled his client, 

Bartholomew, regarding the execution of the lease but failed 

to inform him of its invalidity at the time of execution; and, 

that Respondent knowingly executed a lease and tenant's 

Affidavit containing false statements of material facts which 

affected or potentially affected the rights of the third 

parties. (R, Complaint; RR,  Section 11). 

The Referee found that Bartholomew prepared t h e  lease and 

that neither Bartholomew nor Respondent intended it to be a 

valid lease. The Referee further found that the tenant's 

Affidavit did not and would not have affected the rights of 

any third party lending institution because Respondent would 

be bound by law to the statements contained therein. Based on 

these findings of fact, the Referee concluded there was no 

misrepresentation of a material fact or false statement to a 
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third party. (RR, Section 111). 

The Referee also found that since there was a family 

The Referee concluded this 

(RR, 

relationship between the parties. 

was a family matter that would not affect third persons. 

Section 111). 

Based on the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions 

of law, the Referee found that  The Florida Bar had failed to 

establish the guilt of Respondent and recommended Respondent 

be found not guilty of violating Rule 3 - 4 . 3 ,  Rule 3 - 4 . 4 ,  Rule 

4-4.l(a) and (b) , and Rule 4-8.4(a), (b) and ( c )  . (RR, Section 

IV). The Referee's findings and recommendations of not guilty 

are contrary to the evidence, cont rary  to the Rules Regulating 

The Florida Bar, and are clearly erroneous. 

The Referee's finding of fact that Mr. Bartholomew, a 

non-lawyer, prepared the lease is contrary to the testimony of 

the witnesses and sworn statements of Respondent. The 

evidence shows that Respondent drafted t h e  form lease f o r  Mr. 

Bartholomew's use with his tenants. (TR, p . 3 1 ,  L. 10-15 and 

p . 7 0 ,  L. 25 to p.71, L. 3 ) .  Testimony reveals that Respondent 

prepared the substance of the lease and Mr. Bartholomew merely 

retyped the form on his computer. (TR, p.92, L. 1-4, and p. 

105, L. 16). 

At the Deposition on June 2 9 ,  1992, in the case 

Bartholomew v. Johnson, Case No. 92-7907 LT, the Respondent 

gave the following sworn responses to questions asked by 

Donald A.  Mihokovich, Esquire regarding the lease between 
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Bartholomew and Respondent: 

Q. Could you not have refused to sign this 
document ... 

A.  I could have. 

Q. ... unless it was truthful? 
A .  I could have refused, but I set it up in 

such a way that it's not a legal document ... when this was signed, I had him 
[Bartholomew] sign only, did not ask 
Victoria [Bartholomew] to sign, did not 
want her to sign this. I had only one 
witness on each signature, deliberate. 
This is not a legal document. 
(R, Bar Ex. 6 ,  p .  12, L.25 through p . 1 3 ,  L.16). 

On cross-examination during the Final Hearing in the 

instant case, the Respondent was read the above statements. 

Respondent confirmed that the statements were true except f o r  

his being present when Joseph Bartholomew signed the lease. 

(TR, p.113 ,  L. 13 through p.114, L. 14). 

Mr. Bartholomew was acting under Respondent's direction 

in filling in the blanks and printing the lease out on his 

computer. Respondent supplied the substantive terms and form 

of the lease to Bartholomew. By Respondent's own testimony, 

he "set up" the lease and directed Bartholomew on how to fill 

it out. (R, Bar Ex.6, p.12, L.25 through p.13, L-16). 

Respondent, according to his own statements during the 

Deposition on June 29, 1992, advised Bartholomew how to 

execute the lease. It is clear from the evidence that 

Respondent, acting as an attorney, drafted and prepared the 

lease and that he controlled its execution. 
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The Referee's finding that Respondent did not intend the 

lease to be valid is supported by the record. However, it is 

not clear that Mr. Bartholomew intended the lease to be 

invalid. Respondent testified at the Final Hearing before the 

Referee as follows: 

(by Bar Counsel) 
Q. Did you advise Mr. Bartholomew as his 

attorney that two witnesses were required 
at the time that he was signing this 
lease in September of 1 9 8 9 1  

A. I did not say it at the time, I had told 
him repeatedly on every lease that he was 
to draw to have two witnesses and 
Victoria sign. He knew that, I t o l d  him 
that since 1983, since their marriage. 
If you're saying did I say, Joseph, don't 
forget you need two witnesses, no, 
because we had agreed this lease was only 
to show the bank, it had no other 
purpose. 

Q. Okay. And also when you signed this 
lease and executed this lease did you 
tell Mr. Bartholomew . . . that both his 
signature and Victoria's signature and 
name must be on the lease for it to be a 
valid lease? 

A .  N o t  in those words that day, Mr. Ristoff ... 
(TR, p . 1 0 4 ,  L. 16 through p.105, L.6). 

Respondent further testified at the Final Hearing: 

Q. Mr. Johnson, isn't it true and correct 
that you intentionally and deliberately 
signed the lease and had the lease 
executed in such a manner that it would 
be unenforceable? 

A .  Yes, that's true and he knew it at the 
time. 

Q. Did you tell him that? 

A .  No. See ... 
13 



Q. I'm asking you in October of ' 8 9  that you 
told him you were drafting an 
unenforceable lease. Did you tell him at 
the time this lease was executed that it 
was not an enforceable lease? 

A. N o t  the day I signed it. 
(TR, p . 1 0 8 ,  L. 3-14). 

During his Deposition taken on June 2 9 ,  1992, Respondent 

gave the following answers to questions from Mr. Mihokovich 

regarding the 

A. 

Q. 
A .  

Q -  

A.  

Q. 

A.  

legality of the lease: 

I had only one witness on each signature, 
deliberate. This is not a legal 
document. 

That was deliberate on your part. 

Yes, sir. That's just a precautionary 
measure. 

D i d  you tell Joseph Bartholomew that 
that's why you were having only one 
witness on each? 

No, sir, but he knew the law, and he had 
a copy of the Tino decision. But I asked 
him to make it out to him only to me, and 
that's what he did? 

And what was the reason for that? Was 
that, also, to deliberately make the 
document Invalid? 

It was, between him and me, to make it 
invalid. I had no idea that he was going 
to do what he is now to me. That was one 
of the reasons that it was done, to make 
it invalid f o r  him seeking rental from me 
without the consent of my daughter. (R, 
Bar Ex 6, p . 1 3 ,  L. 15 through p.14, L. 
5 )  

Mr. Bartholomew's testimony at the Final Hearing affirmed 

that, at the time the lease was executed, Respondent failed as 

his attorney to advise him that the lease was invalid. (TR, 
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p.15, L. 2 through p . 1 6 ,  L. 16). Mr. Bartholomew testified at 

the Final Hearing that it was his intent to have the lease be 

a binding agreement. (TR, p . 2 6 ,  L. 2 - 4 ) .  Mr. Bastholomew's 

filing of a civil action for the eviction of Respondent and 

for rent due under the lease is further evidence that Mr. 

Bartholomew did n o t  fully understand that the lease was 

unenforceable. (Bartholomew v. Johnson, Case No. 92-7907 LT 

(Fla. 13th Cir. Ct. August, 1992). 

Further, Respondent failed to advise Mr. Bartholomew of 

his motive f o r  making the lease invalid. Respondent's motive 

was not for some mutual protection of all parties, but was for 

his protection alone. By his own testimony, at Deposition on 

June 29, 1992, Respondent "set up" the lease so that Mr. 

Bartholomew could not enforce it without the consent of 

Respondent's daughter, a purely self-serving motive. (R, Bar 

EX. 6 ,  p . 1 4 ,  L. 1-5). 

The Referee's finding that because Respondent would have 

been bound to the terms of the tenants' Affidavit to a third 

party, there was no misrepresentation of a material fact or 

false statement to such third party is contrary to the 

evidence and rules of law. The Referee's logic here would 

seem to be that even though a statement sworn to under oath as 

true is completely false at the time the statement is made, if 

the person making the false statement could be bound to the 

statement by a third party through the equitable defense of 

estoppel, then the statement becomes true as to the third 
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party. The Referee, based on this conclusion, made no 

specific findings as to the fact that Respondent knowingly and 

intentionally drafted and executed an Affidavit containing 

statements which were f a l s e  at the time the Affidavit was 

made. 

These facts, however, are undisputed in the Record. On 

or about January 19, 1990, Respondent executed a tenant's 

Affidavit at the request of Mr. Bartholomew for the benefit of 

Village Bank of Florida to secure a line of credit. (R, Bar 

Ex 2;  TR, p.91, L. 4-16, p . 2 3 ,  L. 7-13, and p.53, L. 9-21). 

Respondent in his June 29, 1992 Deposition responded that he 

knew the Affidavit and lease were to be shown to potential 

purchasers of the property to assure them that Respondent, as 

a tenant, had no claims against the current owner. (R, Bar 

Ex. 6, p.8, L. 3-11, and p.19, L. 8 through p.20, L. 3 ) .  In 

his Affidavit in support of Defendant's Motion for Summary 

Judgment filed in the case styled Bartholomew v. Johnson, Case 

No. 92-7907 LT, Respondent stated under oath: 

In January 1990 Plaintiff and Defendant were 
negotiating a sale of the property through my 
office. A t  the request of the proposed buyer 
and plaintiff, I executed a form estoppel 
letter, "Tenant's Affidavit", a copy being 
attached to the Complaint as Exhibit t l B . t t  The 
sale was not completed. 
(R, Bar Ex. 4 ,  p.3). 

The "Tenant's Affidavit" to which Respondent refers is 

From Respondent's own sworn the same one referred to herein. 

statements, it is clear that he knew that the Affidavit would 

be shown to and potentially relied on by third parties such as 
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Village Bank and potential purchasers in making financial 

decisions. 

As to t h e  veracity of the statements contained in the 

Affidavit, Respondent repeatedly acknowledged that most of the 

statements were false as between himself and Mr. and M r s .  

Bartholomew. In the Affidavit, Respondent Swore under oath 

that the lease dated September 15, 1989 constituted the entire 

agreement between the parties. (R, Bar Ex. 2 ) .  That statement 

is contrary to Respondent's testimony in his Deposition of 

June 29, 1992: 

Q -  

a. 

Q. 

A .  

Q *  

A .  

So do you maintain that you kept 
possession of the premises pursuant to 
this lease agreement -- 
No, Sir. 

--or is it pursuant to your oral 
agreement? 

It started as the oral agreement. I 
moved in under the oral agreement of both 
of them. This was done for third party 
purposes, primarily, not done for the 
benefit of Joseph, Victoria, or myself. 

What were the terms of this oral 
agreement that you're referring to as f a r  
as rent terms? 

No rent. It was a three year no payment 
of moneys, no payment of rent, no payment 
of taxes, mostly for services I rendered 
Joseph from '79 on, joint services from 
' 8 3  on, way in excess of $100,000.00, 
which I received no compensation. It was 
a l s o  for continue to give them jointly 
whatever advice they wanted jointly. 
(R, Bar Ex 6 ,  p . 9 ,  L. 18 through p.10, L.8). 

It has been Respondent's position since September, 1989, 

and throughout the Final Hearing in this matter, that he had 
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a collateral oral agreement with Mr. and Mrs. Bartholomew that  

he would not have to pay rent f o r  a period of ,three years. 

Respondent's sworn statements in the Affidavit that he 

was a lessee pursuant to the lease dated September 15, 1989, 

between himself and Joseph M. Bartholomew owner/landlord and 

that he had no claims, or set-offs against the landlord under 

the lease were misrepresentations of material facts. The 

statements imply that there was a valid lease between the 

parties and that there were no set-offs or defenses available 

to Respondent against the landlord under the lease. From 

Respondent's own statements, reproduced previously herein, and 

the findings of the Referee, it has already been established 

that the lease as drafted and executed was - not a valid lease 

between Respondent and Bartholomew. The Affidavit does not 

concern whether the lease would be effective or enforceable by 

a third party but whether there existed a valid lease between 

Tenant and Landlord as of the date of the Affidavit. (R, Bar 

Ex. 2 ) .  

Furthermore, Respondent's own statements previously 

presented herein reveal that Respondent did in fact have a 

defense or counter-claim against his landlord f o r  the 

invalidity or unenforceability of the lease due to improper 

execution. 

Respondent further stated in his Deposition of June 29, 

1992, that he occupied the office without paying rent in 

exchange f o r  his providing continuing legal advice to Mr. and 
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Mrs. Bartholomew. (R, Bar Ex. 6, p.9, L. 18 through p.10, L. 

8, previously reproduced herein). This is clearly in the 

nature of a set-off to the rent stated in the lease. Once 

again, the Affidavit did not state that Respondent had no 

defenses, counter-claims or set-offs valid as against third 

parties, but rather that Respondent had no such defenses, 

counter-claims or set-offs against Landlord under the lease. 

(R, Bar Ex.2). 

Respondent's sworn statements in the Affidavit, that he 

was obligated to pay $751.33 per month under the terms of the 

lease and that he was current in his rent due Landlord, are 

false according to Respondent's subsequent statements. (R, 

Bar Ex. 2 ) .  In his Amended Answer and Affirmative Defenses 

filed in the civil suit f o r  eviction and rents due, Respondent 

stated that the lease was not executed for the purpase of 

Respondent paying rent to Bartholomew and that the parties had 

an oral agreement that he would have possession rent free. 

Respondent, at the Final Hearing herein before the 

Referee, denied that the above statement was false. 

Respondent previously stated during the deposition of June 29, 

1992 that it was n o t  a t r u e  statement to say that "tenant was 

obligated to pay monthly the rental payment of $751.33" and he 

affirmed this at the Final Hearing. (R, Bar Ex. 6, p.19, L. 

1-25 and TR, p.119, L.6 through p.120, L. 13). However, 

Respondent asserted a t  the Final Hearing that because of the 

first clause of the statement, "Pursuant to the terms of said 
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lease", the statement in the Affidavit was merely a recitation 

of the terms as provided in the lease. He made an argument 

based on semantics, that the terms of the lease that say he 

was obligated to pay the rent are true, but that he was not 

actually obligated to pay the rent because of the oral 

agreement. (TR, p.118,  L. 21 through p.120, L. 13). He 

further asserts that the next statement that "Tenant is 

current in its rent due landlord" was true because he owed no 

rent. (TR, p.119, L. 1-5 and R, Bar Ex. 2 ) .  

A reasonable interpretation of this language by a third 

party, for whose benefit it was executed, would be that the 

lease mentioned is in fact valid and, therefore, the Tenant is 

actually obligated to pay the rent according to its terms. 

This is especially true when read in conjunction with the 

second sentence contained in the paragraph which states that 

the tenant is current in i ts  rent due. In other words, a 

reasonable interpretation by a third party would be that if 

the tenant is current in its rent, it must be paying the rent. 

Since the two sentences are included in the same paragraph, it 

is not reasonable to interpret them as completely separate and 

unrelated statements. 

Respondent acknowledged in his Affidavit that the 

Affidavit was given for the benefit of Village Bank of 

Florida, pertaining to said Bank's relationship with Landlord. 

(R, Bar Ex.2). There is no real dispute as to the fact that 

Respondent drafted the Affidavit to his liking instead of 
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merely signing the one provided by the Bank. This was 

confirmed by Respondent's and Bartholomew's testimony at the 

Final Hearing. (TR, p . 2 2 ,  L. 3-23,  and p.91, L. 4-16). Based 

on all of the foregoing, there was ample evidence in the 

record to support a finding that Respondent knowingly and 

intentionally drafted and executed an Affidavit containing 

false statements and misrepresentations of a material fact to 

third parties. The Referee's finding to the contrary was 

totally unsupported by the facts. 

The on ly  remaining issue on this point is whether the 

false Affidavit affected a third party. The Referee found 

that the execution of the Affidavit by Respondent did not and 

would not have affected the rights of any third party lending 

institution, but would have required Respondent to pay the 

rental price therein to the third party. The Referee further 

found that, if a third party had relied upon the lease or 

Affidavit, Respondent would have been bound to the terms of 

the document. (RR, Section 111). 

It was Respondent I s argument throughout that there was no 

damage to the third party lending institution because the 

mortgage was timely paid and satisfied as of the time of the 

Final Hearing. However, economic damage to a third party is 

not required by the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar or as 

elements f o r  the crimes of fraud or uttering a fa l se  document. 

The potential for damage to a third party is sufficient for a 

finding of guilt. 
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Furthermore, the purpose of such an Affidavit to a 

lending institution is not to bind the Tenant to the terms 

contained therein, but rather to confirm the information 

contained in the Landlord's tenant roll and application for a 

loan or credit. The Affidavit does not primarily concern the 

reliability of the Tenant, but instead the credit worthiness 

of the Landlord and his ability to repay the loan. Therefore, 

the lending institution suffers harm if those Affidavits 

contain false information because it has changed its position 

in reliance on the information contained in the Affidavit in 

determining whether or not to make the loan. 

False affidavits potentially cause a lending institution 

to make a high r i s k  loan without the knowledge that it is 

doing so and without adjusting terms accordingly. This is 

economic damage in and of itself. 

Respondent's representations to the court that he would 

have been bound by the terms of the lease to the Village Bank, 

or any other third party who relied on it by virtue of his 

Affidavit, is not an accurate statement of the applicable law 

of estoppel. Neither does his being estopped to deny the 

truth of the matters he asserted in the Affidavit by a third 

party's defense of estoppel make the false statements somehow 

true as to the third party. This illogical argument, asserted 

by the Respondent and adopted by the Referee, rested solely in 

Respondent's misstatement of the applicable law of estoppel 

and manipulation of equitable principles and the facts of this 
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case to justify his wrongdoing. Estoppel is properly used as 

a shield, not a sword, and, therefore, one may not rely upon 

an estoppel against himself to justify his position or actions 

Waterman Memorial Hospital Association, Inv., v. Division of 

Retirement, Department of Administration, 4 2 4  So. 2d 5 7 ,  60 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1982). 

Equitable and legal estoppel are defenses available to 

third parties which act to put them in the same position they 

would have been in if the f a l s e  statements they relied on had 

been true. The purpose is to protect innocent third parties 

from injury due to the fraud or misrepresentation of another. 

Griffin v. Bolen, 5 So. 2d 691, 693 (Fla. 1942). It does not 

make the statements true. An estoppel letter or affidavit may 

provide the third party lender with the remedies available 

under estoppel, such as damages or specific performance of a 

valid contract in appropriate factual situations where there 

is no adequate remedy at law; but it does not automatically 

put the lender in the shoes of the landlord as the Respondent 

argued to the Referee at the Final Hearing. 

The Referee's consideration of the family relationship as 

a mitigating factor, and her finding that Respondent was not 

acting as an attorney because of the relationship were 

contrary to the facts of the case, the Rules Regulating The 

Florida Bar, and the law. In The Florida Bar v. Hosner, 520 

So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1988), the Supreme Court 

may be disciplined f o r  engaging in conduct 

held that a lawyer 

which is improper, 
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though not necessarily related to the practice of law. This 

Court stated in support of that ruling that "lawyers are 

necessarily held to a higher standard of conduct in business 

dealings than are non lawyers." Hosner at 5 6 8 .  

In a similar case to the one at issue, The Florida Bar v. 

Gentry, 4 4 7  So. 26 1342 (Fla. 1984), a lawyer drafted a rental 

agreement between himself and his landlord and thereafter 

denied its validity because his wife had not joined him in its 

execution. Unlike the instant case, there were no allegations 

that Gentry knew at the time of drafting the agreement that it 

was unenforceable, or that Gentry was acting as the landlord's 

attorney. Nonetheless, Gentry was found guilty of violating 

Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6) (engaging in conduct that 

reflects on fitness to practice law). In SO finding, this 

Court stated: "Little confidence of the Bar can be expected if 

a lawyer seeks to escape from a personal contract because of 

errors created by that lawyer in its preparation or 

execution." Gentry at 1343 -1344. Gentry was suspended for 

sixth months. 

The facts of the Gentry case are similar to the facts in 

the instant case. Respondent drafted and executed a lease 

the validity of which he later denied on many occasions 

including during the civil action f o r  eviction and r e n t  due, 

filed by Mr. Bartholomew. 

Based on Gentry, Respondent's preparation or execution of 

an unenforceable lease and his subsequent denial of its 
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validity are sufficient acts to subject him to discipline. 

However, the presence of aggravating factors in the instant 

case warrant harsher discipline than was imposed by this Court 

in Gentry. 

In a case involving a family relationship, The Florida 

Bar v.  Jenninqs, 482 So. 2d 1365 (Fla. 1986), the attorney 

borrowed money f rom two sets of in-laws and prepared, filed, 

and recorded a mortgage and note as to each in-law purporting 

to encumber the same property as security. The attorney did 

not inform either in-law of his deal with or mortgage to the 

other. A t  the time the mortgages were recorded, they were 

subject to another lien already in foreclosure. There was no 

attorney-client relationship and Respondent was the only 

attorney involved and did all the legal work, according to the 

Referee's findings. The Referee found that Jennings had 

abused his status as an attorney to secure the loans from his 

relatives and was guilty of over reaching in his dealings with 

them. The Referee further found Jennings guilty of engaging 

in conduct contrary to honesty, justice, or goad morals; of 

engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or 

misrepresentations; and, of engaging in other misconduct 

adversely reflecting on his fitness to practice law. 

In Jenninqs, this Court accepted the Referee's findings 

and recommendation of public reprimand. Justice Ehrlich 

concurred as to the Respondent's guilt but dissented as to 

the discipline imposed by the majority. Justice Ehrlich's 
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dissenting opinion states as follows: "The fact that the 

misconduct took place in a non-lawyer-client setting is no 

defense and the fact that the victims were in-laws can hardly 

be a mitigating factor." According to Justice Ehrlich, 

Jennings had "hoodwinked" his in-laws to their detriment, had 

committed fraud and deceit from the outset, and betrayed their 

trust throughout. 

It is completely contrary to case law and the Florida 

Standards to find that an attorney's wrongdoing and violation 

of ethical obligations should be obviated due to a close 

family relationship to t h e  client. If anything, such a family 

relationship would impose a greater fiduciary duty and ethical 

obligation upon the lawyer because of the higher  degree of 

trust and confidence placed in the lawyer by his family. 

Respondent's behavior towards his son-in-law client was 

inexcusable. The presence of a family relationship, if 

considered at all, should be considered as an aggravating 

factor, not as a mitigating one. 

Further, it was completely contrary to the facts and the 

testimony of Respondent and Bartholomew for the Referee to 

have found that Respondent was merely acting as a father and 

father-in-law and was not acting as an attorney for his son- 

in-law and daughter in the transactions here concerned. At 

the Final Hearing, Respondent gave the following answers to 

questions regarding the time period when the lease was 

executed : 
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Q. And you were his [Bartholomew's) 
attorney; is that correct? 

A .  I was his attorney and also his 
father-in-law, a l so  his tenant. 

Q. And he relied on you for l egal  advice; 
is that correct? 

A .  He often didn't adhere to it but he 
should have. He relied on it yes, sir. 
(TR, p.108, L. 21 through p.109, L.2). 

The Referee therefore erred in not recommending that the 

Respondent be found guilty of violating the Rules Regulating 

The Florida Bar. 
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ISSUE 11: SUSPENSION OF NO LESS THAN ONE YEAR IS 
APPROPRIATE IN LIGHT OF THE SERIOUSNESS 
OF RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT AND APPLICABLE 
AGGRAVATING FACTORS. 

The facts and evidence in the instant case clearly 

support findings that Respondent: 

(1) knowingly, and intentionally drafted 
and executed an unenforceable lease 
between himself and his client, 
Bartholomew; 

( 2 )  failed to adequately advise his client 
regarding the unenforceability of the 
lease; 

( 3 )  knowingly drafted and executed an 
Affidavit containing false statements or 
misrepresentations of material facts with 
the intent to mislead or defraud third 
parties; and, 

( 4 )  knowingly assisted Bartholomew, his 
client, in providing false information 
with the intent to mislead or defraud the 
lending institution f o r  the purpose of 
obtaining a loan or credit. 

Discipline was not argued before the Referee as there was 

a finding of not guilty. However, The Florida Bar offers 

Respondent's prior disciplinary history in the event this 

Court sets aside the Referee's finding of not guilty. 

Suspension is an appropriate minimum sanction under the 

Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. Standard 

4 . 6 2  provides that suspension is appropriate when a lawyer 

knowingly deceives a client and causes injury or potential 

injury to the client. Standard 5.11(b) provides that 

disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer engages in serious 
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criminal conduct, a necessary element of which includes 

intentional interference with the administration of justice, 

false swearing, misrepresentation, fraud, extortion, 

misappropriation or theft. Standard 5.11(f) provides f o r  

disbarment when a lawyer engages in any other conduct 

involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation that 

seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to 

practice. 

A number of aggravating factors are present in this case. 

Respondent has received prior discipline on two prior 

occasions. Standard 9.22(a). In 1987, Respondent received a 

public reprimand for writing letters to clients expressing his 

religious beliefs as to what would happen to the clients as a 

result of their nonpayment of his fees. The Florida B a r  v. 

Johnson, 511 So. 2d 295  (Fla. 1987). Additionally, in April, 

1992, Respondent was suspended for 15 days effective May 25 ,  

1992 with one (1) year probation upon reinstatement, for 

violation of rules regarding trust account records and 

procedures. 

O t h e r  aggravating factors  applicable to Respondent's 

misconduct under Florida Standards f o r  Imposing Lawyer 

Sanctions are: 

Standard 9 . 2 2  (b) dishonest or selfish motive; 

(9) refusal to acknowledge wrongful 
nature of conduct; and, 

(i) substantial experience in the 
practice of law. 
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Respondent was clearly motivated by selfish interests in 

avoiding any legal obligation to pay rent f o r  a three year 

period. Further, Respondent has not acknowledged any 

wrongdoing on his part. Instead, he has vigorously defended 

his actions. Respondent has had substantial experience in the 

practice of law having been in practice f o r  over thirty (30) 

years at the time of his misconduct. 

There are no mitigating factors as described in Standard 

9.32(a) through (m) which are applicable to Respondent's 

misconduct. 

Comparable disciplinary cases have imposed suspension as 

an appropriate sanction. In The Florida Bar v .  Stillman, 606 

So. 2d 360 (Fla. 1992), this Court suspended Stillman from the 

practice of law for one year for misconduct involving 

misrepresentations to lending institutions. Stillman had no 

prior disciplinary offenses, and as a mitigating factor, the 

Referee in Stillman found no motive f o r  personal gain. 

However, this Court found that the conduct warranted a 

suspension of one year, due to the severity of the overall 

pattern of misconduct, the number of separate acts of 

fraudulent conduct, the large amount of money at r i s k ,  and the 

likelihood that Stillman had violated federal and state laws. 

The Stillman case is similar to the instant case in that 

it involved misrepresentations and fraudulent statements to a 

lending institution and the execution of false documents. The 

facts in Stillman involved a scheme by the lawyer to conceal 
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secondary financing and mortgages in obtaining loans f o r  his 

clients. Respondent's acts in assisting his client in 

fraudulently obtaining financing by verifying false rental 

income and fa lse  swearing in an Affidavit are similar in 

nature, if not degree to those in Stillman. Respondent's 

intentional preparation and execution of an invalid lease, his 

failure to adequately advise his client, and his selfish 

motive, considered together with aggravating factors including 

prior disciplinary offenses, warrants discipline at least as 

severe as that imposed in the Stillman case. 

In The Florida Bar v. Sieqel, 511 So. 2d 9 9 5 ,  998 (Fla. 

1987), this Court suspended Siegel for 90 days based on the 

lawyer's "deliberate scheme to misrepresent facts in order t o  

Secure full financing of their purchase." The lawyer in 

Sieqel misrepresented a cash down payment to the bank which 

was instead obtained by secondary financing. The lawyer also 

provided an Affidavit containing false statements and 

misrepresentations on which the bank relied in making its 

loan. There were no facts in the Sieqel opinion which suggest 

that the bank had suffered any actual economic damage. Siegel 

had no prior disciplinary offenses. 

The facts in Sieqel are comparable to the facts in the 

Both cases involve misrepresentations and false instant case. 

statements to a financial institution to obtain a loan, false  

affidavits, and fraudulent intent. Respondent's misconduct 

warrants a more severe sanction than that imposed in Sieqel 
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due to the aggravating factors herein. 

In another similar case, The Florida Bar v. Nuckolls, 521 

So. 2d 1120, (Fla. 1988), an attorney obtained 100% financing 

by misrepresenting the purchase price to the lender. This 

C o u r t  found that the lawyer's conduct " w a s  a deliberate 

attempt to perpetrate a fraud on lenders ... based on ... 
misrepresentations. I' Nuckolls at 1121. Nuckolls had no prior 

disciplinary offenses. Once again, the facts in the case at 

Bar demonstrate additional misconduct on the part of the 

Respondent and aggravating factors, not present in the 

Nuckolls case. 
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ISSUE 111: WHETHER THE RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED 
TO RECOVER COSTS FOR THESE DISCIPLINARY 
PROCEEDINGS. 

The Report of Referee finding Respondent not guilty, 

reserved jurisdiction as to costs. On May 2 6 ,  1994, the 

Referee submitted an Additional Report of Referee finding 

costs  for Respondent in the amount of $ 6 8 . 4 0 .  This Court 

established that the standard f o r  setting c o s t s  in 

disciplinary actions is the discretionary approach, rather 

than the civil standard that costs generally follow the result 

of the suit. The Florida Bar v. Bosse, 609 So. 2d 1320, 1322 

(Fla. 1992). The Florida Bar v. Chilton, 616 So. 2d 449 (Fla. 

1993). 

In light of the f ac t s  herein, the Respondent's costs 

should have been denied. The Referee concluded, although 

finding Respondent not guilty, that "his conduct is not 

necessarily approved". (RR, Section 111). The facts of this 

case do not establish justification for the assessment of 

costs against The Bar, however, insignificant the amount. (RR, 

Section 111). 

Moreover, the facts of this case clearly and convincingly 

establish Respondent's guilt. The Florida Bar seeks leave 

upon a finding of guilt by this Court to f i l e  an Affidavit of 

Costs in support of The Bar costs. 
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CONCLUSION 

The testimony and prior statements of Respondent, 

testimony of witnesses, and other evidence presented in this 

case clearly establish a violation of the Rules Regulating The 

Florida by the Respondent. Respondent's conduct involved 

fraud, misrepresentation and false swearing, as well as a 

breach of the duty owed to his client. Aggravating factors of 

prior disciplinary offenses, dishonest or selfish motive, lack 

of remorse, and substantial experience in the practice of law 

are applicable. There are no recognized mitigating factors 

present. 

The evidence establishes that Respondent used his 

knowledge and skill as an attorney to circumvent the law and 

commit fraudulent acts for dishonest or selfish motives. 

Respondent's testimony and other evidence establish that 

Respondent has a lack of appreciation f o r  the concept of 

"truth," and a lack of understanding of the implications 

associated with swearing under oath. 

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar respectfully requests this 

Court to reject the Referee's findings of fact and conclusions 

of law challenged by the Bar, specifically rejecting the 

Referee's recommendation that Respondent be found not guilty 

of violating Rule 3 - 4 . 3 ,  Rule 3 - 4 . 4 ,  Rule 4-4.l(a) and (b) and 

Rule 4-8.4(a),(b), and (c); find the Respondent guilty of 

violating the above Rules; suspend Respondent from the 

practice of law for one year; and assess the costs of the 
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disciplinary proceedings to Respondent. 

Respectfully submitted, 

h 

DAVID R. RISTOFF 
Branch Staff Counsel 
The Florida Bar 
Suite C-49 
Tampa Airport Marriott Hotel 
Tampa, Florida 33607 
(813) 875-9821 
Attorney No. 358576 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and a correct copy of the 
foregoing FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF has been furnished to H. 
EUGENE JOHNSON, Respondent, at 715 E. Bird Street, Suite 4 0 9 ,  
Tampa, Florida 33604-3109, and a copy to JOHN T. BERRY, Staff 
Counsel, The Florida Bar, 650 qBalachee Parkway, Tallahassee, 
Florida 32399-2300, this 4 - day of July, 1994. 

DAVID R. RISTOFF 
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TENANT'S A F F I D A V I T  ( 

STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OP HILLSBOROUGl? 

r s i g n e d  a u t h o r i t y ,  p e r s o n a l l y  appeared 
( h e r e i n a f t e r  r e f e r r e d  to 

as  ' I ' e n a n t ) ,  who b e i n g  E i c s t  d u l y  sworn d e p o s e s  and s a y s :  

1. T e n a n t  h a s  personal knowledge of all mat ters  alleged 
herein 

2 .  T e n a n t  p r e s e n t l y  i s  thc Lessee oE c e r t a i n  premises of 

Center, 715 E a d B i r d  S t r e  t Tarn a Florida, p u r s u a n t  Lo t h a t  
c c t h i n  Lease  d a t e d  I ? & '  b e t w e e n  Tenant: and 
Joseph M. D a r t h o 1 o m e w ,  Owner L a r : d l o r d .  

a p p r ox i ma t e 1 y /,3 7 s q u a r e  f e e t  i n  The North Tampa 

- 

3 .  T h i s  Lease has n o t  b c o n  a s s i g n e d  by T e n a n t ,  a m e n d e d  
o r  modified, and said Lease c o n s t i t u t e s  the e n t i r e  agreewent 
between T e n a n t  and Landlord w i t h  respec t  to s a i d  premises .  

4 .  Any and a l l  conditions of a n  e n d u c e i n e n t  n a t u r e  
c o n t a i n e d  in the L e a s e  h a v e  bccn performed OK  have occurred to 
T e n a n t ' s  satisfaction. 

5. Landlord i s  n o t  i n  : ' , c E a u l t  t o  T e n a n t  w i t h  r e s p e c t  t o  
ctiiy o b l i g a t i o n  u n d e r  said L e a L 3 ,  and T c n a n t  does n o t  h a v e  any 
d u E c n s e s ,  c o u n t e r c l a i m s  or se t -o f fn  a g a i n s t  L a n d l o r d  u n d e r  t h i s  
Lease. 

6 .  T e n a n t  has made n o  i m p r o v e m e n t s  or r e p a i r s  to said 
preiniscs during t h e  n i n e t y  (90) day p e r i o d  i m l n c c l i a t e l y  
p r e c e d i n g  t h e  d a t e  oE th i s  AEFidavit; a n d  t h e r e  a r e  n o  u n p a i d  
b i l l s  of a n y  n a t u r e  Eor labor o r  materials u s e d  i n  i m p r o v i n g  
s a i d  premises 

7. P u r s u a n t  t o  the terms o f  s a i d  Lease, T e n a n t  is 
obligated t o  pay m o n t h l y  t h e  r e n t a l  p a y m e n t  (exclusion of 
t a x e s )  o €  $ 7.7/ .33 . Tenant i s  c u r r e n t  i n  i t s  rent d u e  
L a n d l o r d .  

Q. T e n a n t  does h e r e b y  aoknowledgc  t h a t  this nfEidavit is 
g i v e n  Lo  tho b e n e f i t  o f  The Vil . lago R a n k  Of F l o r i d a ,  p e r t a i n i n g  
t o  s a i J  Bank's r e l a t i o n s h i p  w i t h  L a n d l o r d .  

TENANT 

cx 
S w o r n  t o  a n d  subscribed t o  beforc me this / '  - day of 

J a n u a r y ,  1990. 
. .  . .  
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